RECEIVED

Dec 03 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James E. Chellis, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000122

U.S. Bank Trust NA, as Trustee for Waterfall Victoria Grantor Trust II, Series G, Appellant,

v.

Jamie Singleton and Indigo Pointe Homeowners' Association, Defendants,

of which Jamie Singleton is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT U.S. BANK TRUST NA, AS TRUSTEE
FOR WATERFALL VICTORIA GRANTOR TRUST II, SERIES G

Dean A. Hayes
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C.
4500 Fort Jackson Blvd., Ste. 335
Columbia, SC 29209
Phone: (803) 724-5000
Attorney for Appellant

January Taylor

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the master-in-equity err in the November 21, 2022 order by disallowing Waterfall's request for accrued interest, attorney's fees and costs, which were items to which Waterfall was entitled under the terms of the note and mortgage?
- II. Did the master-in-equity err in the November 21, 2022 order by denying Waterfall's request for the escrow charges and the corporate advances because of Waterfall's alleged failure to establish the reasonableness of these charges?
- III. Did the master-in-equity err in, *sua sponte*, issuing the March 28, 2023 order that vacated, in total, the November 21, 2022 order when more than ten days had passed since the issuance of the November 21, 2022 order?
- IV. Did the master-in-equity err in the December 12, 2023 order by disallowing Waterfall's request for accrued interest on the note?
- V. Did the master-in-equity err in the December 12, 2023 order by holding that Waterfall, although being the holder of the Note, was not the holder of the Mortgage that secured the Note, thereby preventing Waterfall from foreclosing on the Mortgage?
- VI. Did the master-in-equity err in the December 12, 2023 order by awarding a judgment or setoff in favor of Singleton for the amount of \$19,183.89?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a mortgage foreclosure action with a long history. On April 25, 2011, the plaintiff, 50 by 50 REO, LLC (“50 by 50”), filed the lis pendens, summons and complaint in this foreclosure action against the defendants, Jamie Singleton (“Singleton”) and Indigo Pointe Homeowners’ Association. (R. pp. 209-20). The complaint alleged that, on or about January 4, 2006, Singleton executed an adjustable interest rate note for the principal amount of \$212,000.00, payable to People’s Choice Home Loans, Inc., its successors and assigns, and on that same date, Singleton executed a mortgage to secure the note. (R. pp. 216-17). The complaint further alleged that Singleton had defaulted in the monthly payments required by the note, that 50 by 50 was the holder of the note, and 50 by 50 had elected to exercise its option to foreclosure on the mortgage that secured the note. (R. pp. 216-18).

On May 24, 2011, Singleton filed a motion to dismiss the complaint based on the alleged failure of 50 by 50 to join a necessary party under Rule 19, SCRPC. (R. pp. 223-24). According to the motion to dismiss, Singleton had obtained a “mortgage securitization audit” from “Linda Zimmerman, Certified Forensic Loan Auditor,” that “detail errors and/or fraud in the Assignment of Mortgage of 2008 from MERS, Inc. on behalf of People’s Choice Home Loan, Inc. to GMAC Mortgage, LLC, GMAC Mortgage Corp. [sic] which make it void or, at the very least, dubious as far as the validity of the Assignment of Note and Mortgage.” (R. p. 223). If the assignment in question was valid, Singleton’s motion alleged the complaint failed to name a necessary party. (R. pp. 223-24).

Pursuant to South Carolina Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01, 50 by 50 notified Singleton of his right to be considered for foreclosure intervention. (R. p. 225). By letter dated July 6, 2011, Singleton’s attorney responded to the notice by stating Singleton would like to be

considered for foreclosure intervention. (R. p. 226). Accordingly, by an order signed on August 9, 2011, and filed on August 17, 2011, the case was stayed while Singleton was being considered for foreclosure intervention. (R. pp. 1-4). By an attorney certification filed with the court on December 19, 2011, 50 by 50's attorney notified the court that, after reviewing the information submitted, Singleton did not qualify for any foreclosure intervention options. (R. p. 227).

Therefore, by an order filed on June 1, 2012, the court restored the case to the active roster. (R. p. 5). The case was referred to the master in equity for Dorchester County by an order of reference filed on June 8, 2012. (R. p. 7). On June 14, 2012, 50 by 50 filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 228). After a hearing on Singleton's motion to dismiss on June 27, 2012, the master in equity denied the motion to dismiss by an order filed on July 26, 2012. (R. p. 204). Singleton filed an answer and counterclaim on July 11, 2012. (R. pp. 232-41). 50 by 50 responded to the counterclaims by filing a reply on August 13, 2012. (R. pp. 242-46). On September 6, 2012, Singleton filed a motion to disburse insurance proceeds that had been paid to the mortgagee because of a fire at Singleton's home. (R. pp. 247-48). On September 25, 2012, 50 by 50 filed a motion to substitute US Bank, N.A., as Trustee of the FRT 2011-1 Trust ("US Bank") for 50 by 50 as plaintiff in the case. (R. p. 249). After a hearing, Maite Murphy, the master in equity at the time, issued an order that was filed on November 8, 2012, and the order denied Singleton's motion to disburse insurance proceeds, denied Singleton's motion for a more definite statement, denied Singleton's motion to dismiss or motion to stay, granted 50 by 50's motion to substitute US Bank as plaintiff, and continued 50 by 50's motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 9-18). On June 25, 2013, an order was filed admitting William Jeff Barnes pro hac vice as co-counsel for Singleton. (R. pp. 20-21). Singleton filed a motion for summary judgment with the court on September 26, 2013. (R. pp. 266-365).

A consent scheduling order was filed in the case on October 23, 2013, by James E. Chellis, the new and current master in equity. (R. pp. 22-23). By a motion dated January 17, 2014, filed February 10, 2014, US Bank filed a motion to continue a motions hearing scheduled before the master in equity for January 22, 2014. (R. pp. 366-67). After a hearing on January 22, 2014, an order was filed on March 19, 2014 that granted US Bank's motion for a continuance and scheduled both US Bank's motion for summary judgment and Singleton's motion for summary judgment for hearing on April 24, 2014. (R. pp. 24-25). Plaintiff's memorandum in opposition to Singleton's motion for summary judgment was filed on April 21, 2014. (R. pp. 371-88). An order denying Singleton's motion for summary judgment was filed on May 13, 2014. (R. pp. 26-32). On July 23, 2014, Singleton filed a motion to compel US Bank to provide discovery responses. (R. pp. 389-90). A hearing on Singleton's motion to compel was scheduled for September 4, 2014, but the hearing was continued at Singleton's request by a consent order filed on August 28, 2014. (R. pp. 33-34). An order denying Singleton's motion to compel was filed on September 30, 2014; however, the order did grant Singleton leave to file a motion to amend his answer and counterclaim "to bring third-party claims against persons or entities [Singleton] asserts are necessary and proper parties to a fair and just determination of the issues before the Court." (R. pp. 35-36). On October 28, 2014, Singleton filed a motion to amend his answer to add counterclaims and additional defendants. (R. pp. 394-413). US Bank's memorandum in opposition to Singleton's motion to amend was filed on December 15, 2014. (R. pp. 415-18). On February 2, 2015, Singleton filed another motion to amend his answer to add counterclaims and additional defendants. (R. pp. 419-36). An order was filed on April 13, 2015 granting Singleton's motion to amend his answer to add counterclaims and cross-claims. (R. pp. 37-58). Singleton's amended answer and cross-claim added eight new cross-defendants

as parties to the action. (R. pp. 425-35). U.S. Bank filed its reply to Singleton’s amended answer and cross-claim on July 2, 2015. (R. pp. 446-49). On September 21, 2015, US Bank filed a motion to substitute US Bank Trust, National Association, not in its individual capacity but solely as owner trustee of Westvue NPL Trust, Series 2014-1 (“US Bank Trust”) as plaintiff in the case. (R. pp. 456-61).

Singleton filed a “motion for case management conference” on September 30, 2015. (R. pp. 462-509). On February 29, 2016, a memorandum was filed in support of substituting US Bank Trust as plaintiff in the action. Also on February 29, 2016, Singleton filed his response to have US Bank Trust substituted as plaintiff in the action. On March 1, 2016, the master-in-equity issued an order substituting US Bank Trust as plaintiff in the action. (R. pp. 59-61).

On May 25, 2016, Singleton filed a motion to compel U.S. Bank, the counter-defendant and prior plaintiff, to respond to discovery requests. (R. pp. 524-25). After a hearing on June 16, 2016, the master-in-equity filed an order on August 31, 2016 that granted Singleton’s motion to compel. (R. pp. 66-70). Singleton filed a second motion to disburse insurance proceeds on September 5, 2017. (R. pp. 530-39). On September 22, 2017, US Bank Trust filed a motion to substitute Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, d/b/a Christiana Trust, not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Certificate Trustee for NNPL Trust Series 2012-1 (“Wilmington Savings”) as plaintiff in the case. (R. pp. 540-41). On September 29, 2017, a stipulation as to amendment of the pleadings and substitution of the plaintiff and an order granting plaintiff’s motion to substitute plaintiff were filed. (R. pp. 79-80, 542-43). A second amended scheduling order was filed on July 17, 2018. (R. pp. 87-90). Singleton filed his third amended answer, counterclaim and cross-claim on July 29, 2018. (R. pp. 545-46). The third amended answer, counterclaim and cross-claim also set forth the following defenses: lack of

standing; waiver and laches; unclean hands; bad faith and unfair dealing; “separation of the note and mortgage;” and judicial estoppel. (R. pp. 547-50). The counterclaims set forth in the amended answer and counterclaim were for quiet title and declaratory judgment. (R. pp. 551-65). Wilmington Savings responded to the amended answer, counterclaim and cross-claim by a reply filed on August 28, 2018. (R. pp. 580-87). On September 5, 2018, a third amended scheduling order was issued in the case. (R. pp. 95-97).

The cross-claim defendant, U.S. Bank, NA, as Trustee for FRT 2011-1 (“FRT Trust”) filed a motion for summary judgment on November 28, 2018. (R. pp. 597-600). On December 14, 2018, Singleton also filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 601-739). Wilmington Savings filed a motion for summary judgment on December 31, 2018. (R. pp. 742-66). An order granting FRT Trust’s motion for summary judgment and dismissing FRT Trust as a party to the action was filed on February 7, 2019. (R. pp. 98-100). Singleton filed a motion to dismiss the action on October 16, 2019. (R. pp. 810-20).

On February 6, 2020, the plaintiff, Wilmington Savings, filed a motion and a proposed order to substitute U.S. Bank Trust N.A. as Trustee for Waterfall Victoria Grantor Trust II, Series G (“Waterfall”) as plaintiff in the action. (R. pp. 105, 839-41). By an order filed on February 7, 2020, the master-in-equity denied the motion to substitute Waterfall as the plaintiff. (R. pp. 105-06). After a status conference on October 28, 2019, the master-in-equity, on February 11, 2020, filed an order that denied Singleton’s motion to dismiss the action, granted Singleton’s motion to continue the trial, and granted Singleton’s motion to compel Wilmington Savings to provide Singleton with certain information regarding the assignment of the note and mortgage in question to Waterfall. (R. pp. 107-09). Another status conference was held in the action on July 29, 2020, and after this conference, an order was filed on August 5, 2020 that

allowed Singleton to take the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of a representative of Wilmington Savings. (R. pp. 110-13). On September 20, 2020, Wilmington Savings filed a motion to dismiss the foreclosure action without prejudice on the basis that it was no longer the holder of the note and mortgage and the court had denied Wilmington Savings' motion to substitute the current holder; therefore, Wilmington Savings could no longer move forward with the action. (R. pp. 853-56). The master-in-equity held a hearing on November 16, 2020, and the result of the hearing was an order filed on March 16, 2021 that vacated the previous order filed on February 7, 2020 that denied Wilmington Savings' motion to substitute Waterfall as the plaintiff in the action. (R. pp. 114-17). This March 16, 2021 order also denied as moot the motions to dismiss filed by both Wilmington Savings and Singleton. (R. p. 116).

On November 2, 2021, Singleton filed his third motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 900-76). By an order filed on February 8, 2022, the master-in-equity denied Singleton's third motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 118-20). Waterfall filed a motion for summary judgment, with supporting documents, on September 16, 2022. (R. pp. 991-1076). On October 6, 2022, Singleton filed his own motion for summary judgment, his fourth in the action, and he also filed a memorandum in opposition to Waterfalls' motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 1068-97). After a hearing on October 12, 2022, the master-in-equity issued an order filed on November 21, 2022 ("November 21, 2022 Order") that granted Waterfall's motion for summary judgment by finding that Waterfall was the holder of the note and mortgage in question and was entitled to foreclose; however, the November 21, 2022 Order denied Waterfall any interest on the principal debt from the date of default through the date of the judgment and also denied Waterfall any "escrow" charges, any "corporate advances," and any attorney's fees and costs. (R. pp. 121-138). On December 1, 2022, Waterfall filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend the

November 21, 2022 Order with regard to the master-in-equity's denial of the pre-judgment interest, the escrow, the corporate advances, and the attorney's fees and costs. (R. pp. 1098-1149). Singleton did not file a motion with regard to the November 21, 2022 Order, but Singleton did file a memorandum in opposition to Waterfall's motion. (R. pp. 1150-60). Waterfall filed a memorandum in reply to Singleton's memorandum in opposition. (R. pp. 1163-75). The master-in-equity issued a Form 4 order on March 28, 2023 ("March 28, 2023 Order Vacating"), that vacated, in full, the November 21, 2022 Order and dismissed Waterfall's Rule 59(e) motion as being moot. (R. pp. 206-08).

After a hearing on March 29, 2023, an order was filed on April 20, 2023 that denied Singleton's fourth motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 139-40). A three-day trial in the case was held between June 12, 2023 and June 14, 2023, and from this trial, the master-in-equity filed an order on December 12, 2023 ("December 12, 2023 Trial Order") that granted Waterfall judgment for the principal balance of the note but denied foreclosure or judgment to Waterfall for anything but the principal balance due on the note. (R. pp. 144-197). On December 22, 2023, Waterfall filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the December 12, 2023 Trial Order with regard to the master-in-equity's denial of interest, costs and attorney's fees to Waterfall, the conclusion that Waterfall, although holding the Note, did not also hold the Mortgage, thereby preventing it from foreclosing, and the awarding of a judgment to Singleton. (R. pp. 1237-77). Singleton filed a memorandum in opposition to Waterfall's 59(e) motion, but Singleton did not file his own Rule 59(e) motion with regard to the December 12, 2023 Trial Order. (R. pp.). The master-in-equity, without a hearing, filed an order on December 29, 2023 ("December 29, 2023 Order") that granted Waterfall's 59(e) motion to the extent the note and mortgage provided reasonable attorney's fees to Waterfall. (R. pp. 198-203). The December 29, 2023 Order did not

address Waterfall’s request for interest on the principal balance owed on the note. (R. pp. 198-203).

On January 29, 2024, Waterfall filed a notice of appeal with regard to the following orders: the November 21, 2022 order granting plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment; the March 28, 2023 Form 4 order setting aside the November 21, 2023 order and finding the Waterfall’s 59(e) motion to be moot; the December 12, 2023 order denying Waterfall foreclosure and granting judgment on the note; and the December 29, 2023 order granting in part and denying in part Waterfall’s 59(e) motion. (R. pp. 1359-1441).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997). In an appeal from an action in equity, tried by a judge alone, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston S. Univ.*, 376 S.C. 399, 407, 656 S.E.2d 775, 779 (Ct. App. 2008). However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings of the trial court or to ignore that the trial court is in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses. *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of the burden of convincing the appellate court that the trial court committed error in its findings. *Id.* at 387-88, 544 S.E.2d at 623. The appellate court may decide questions of law in an equity case without any particular deference to the trial court. *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200 (Supp. 1998)).

ARGUMENTS

- I. The master-in-equity erred in the November 21, 2022 order by disallowing Waterfall's request for accrued interest, attorney's fees, and costs, which were items to which Waterfall was entitled under the terms of the note and mortgage.

In the master-in-equity's November 21, 2022 Order (**in this argument I and in arguments II and III below, the November 21, 2022 Order will simply be referred to as "Order"**) that granted Waterfall's motion for summary judgment, the master-in-equity properly found that Singleton, on or about January 4, 2006, executed an adjustable interest rate note ("Note"), payable in monthly amortized installments, to People's Choice Home Loans, Inc. for the principal amount of \$212,000.00. (R. p. 122). The Order also properly found that Singleton, in order to secure payment of the Note, executed a mortgage ("Mortgage") encumbering real property generally described as 5505 Rowsham Place, North Charleston, South Carolina 29418, and that the Mortgage was a purchase-money mortgage. (R. p. 122). In the Order, the master-in-equity also correctly found that Singleton failed to make the payment on the Note due for January 1, 2010 and that he remained in default thereafter. (R. p. 122). As set forth in Waterfall's memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment, Singleton admitted these facts in his deposition. (R. pp. 992-93, p. 1002, line 9-p. 1003, line 2, p. 1005, line 23-p. 1018, line 20, pp. 1023-57).

The Order found that Singleton's failure to make the required payments on Note was a breach of the terms of the Note and that Waterfall's predecessor in interest had properly exercised its right to declare the entire balance, including interest, due and payable. (R. pp. 122-23). The Order also found that Waterfall was the holder of the Note was therefore entitled to enforce the Note and Mortgage pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301. (R. p. 123, pp. 1062-67). The Order also found that Waterfall's affidavit claimed, as of the date of the hearing, that it

was entitled to principal, accrued interest, advances, late charges, costs and disbursements, and attorney's fees totaling \$552,705.56. (R. p. 123, pp. 1058-1061). All of these findings were supported by the record and by the memorandum and supporting documents Waterfall filed in support of its motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 991-1067). At the hearing, the master-in-equity noted, "there is no counter affidavit filed by the defendant as to the amount of the debt." (R. p. 1612, line 25-p. 1613, line 1).

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