RECEIVED

Feb 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James F. Chellis, Master In Equity,
Court of Common Pleas

Appeal Case Number: 2024-000122
Lower Court Case No. 2011-CP-18-00871

US BANK TRUST, NA as Trustee for
Waterfall Victoria Grantor Trust II Series G,

Appellant,

v.

JAMIE SINGLETON and INDIGO POINTE
HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION,

Defendants,

Of Which JAMIE SINGLETON is the Respondent.

**ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
JAMIE SINGLETON**

Jeff Barnes, Esq.
PHV counsel for Respondent Jamie Singleton
Appellate Practice Law Group PLLC
1515 North Federal Highway, Suite 300

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

III. Whether the March 28, 2023 Order is Appealable?

As these two issues are related (as both issues concern the appealability of Orders which were never timely appealed within thirty (30) days of their entry), Respondent addresses the central issue, which applies to both Orders, here. The answer to the issues is no.

Appellant argues that the November 21, 2022 and March 28, 2023 Orders are appealable as the Master-in-Equity (allegedly) lacked jurisdiction to enter the subject

Orders, citing two cases: *Ness v. Eckerd Corp.*, 350 S.C. 399, 402, 566 S.E.2d 193, 195 (S.C. App. 2002), and *Heins v. Heins*, 344 S.C. 146, 543 S.E.2d 224 (S.C. App. 2001). Both cases are factually and legally distinguishable from the case here, and are thus not “remarkably similar” to the instant case as alleged by Appellant. (Appellant’s Reply to Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Page 2, No. 3; Appellant’s Brief Page 24).

Unlike here, *Ness* involved an appeal of two orders entered by different judges regarding setting aside a default. The judge vacated the default order on his own initiative in connection with a recusal arising out of matters which the judge admitted that he learned of on his own, and not as the result of any motion. The trial judge stated that he discovered that one of his brothers had a relationship to one of the parties which was unknown to him at the time that the judge heard motions which resulted in the entry of orders. No such conflict or issue is present here.

Appellant admits that in *Ness*, “the trial judge modified an order not as requested in a Rule 59(e) motion, but rather on his own initiative.”, which is not the situation here. (Appellant’s Reply to Motion to Dismiss Appeal, Page 2, No. 4).

Appellant claims that “In the present case, the trial judge, *sua sponte*, vacated an earlier order more than 10 days after the order was issued”, yet Appellant almost immediately thereafter admits that the master in equity issued the April 20, 2023 Order vacating the November 21, 2022 Order “*After U.S. Bank filed its Motion for Reconsideration of certain portions of this Order.*” (Appellant’s Reply to Motion to

Dismiss Appeal, Page 2, No. 6). It cannot be both: the Master-in-Equity below only entered the Order complained of after the filing of a motion and briefing thereon, and thus did not undertake any action “*sua sponte*.” (R. p. 139). Appellant fails to cite a single case which provides that a trial judge cannot rule on a Motion directed to an Order where and after the Motion is fully briefed, and where the trial judge rules after briefing. This Court may thus properly disregard Appellant’s reliance on *Ness*.

Heins also, unlike here, was another situation where there was a “*sua sponte*” ruling and in a divorce case, and concerned a grant of relief not requested in the pleadings. *Heins* provides no support for Appellant’s position.

The thrust of the “loss of jurisdiction” holding in both *Ness* and *Heins* is predicated on the ability and timing of the trial judge to vacate an order “on his own initiative”. *Ness* specifically points this out: “Although trial judges retain jurisdiction to alter judgments on their own initiative for ten days if a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion is filed, after ten days *that* jurisdiction is lost.” 350 S.C. 402 (emphasis supplied). Thus, the specific type of jurisdiction which may be lost after 10 days is limited solely to a trial judge acting “on his own initiative”.

There is nothing in either *Ness* or *Heins* which provides that a trial judge totally loses jurisdiction to rule on a motion for reconsideration or to alter or amend an order or judgment after full briefing by counsel and/or after a hearing. Neither *Ness* nor *Heins* provide any support for Appellant’s position. Appellant failed to comply with the time limitations to appeal either the November 21, 2022 or March 28, 2023

Order, which are not appealable here. This Court may thus properly disregard Appellant's argument that this Court has jurisdiction to undertake any action as to the subject Orders.

Appellant also purports to rely upon S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1) for the proposition that this Court may review the May 28, 2023 Order. (Appellant's Reply to Motion to Dismiss Appeal, pp. 3-4). By its very language, §14-3-330 provides that "The Supreme Court" shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of law in law cases, etc. Appellant's appeal is here, in the Court of Appeals, and not in the Supreme Court.

There is no issue that §14-3-330(a) is a statute. What Appellant is attempting to do (and asking this Court to do) is to expand the language of a statute to fit Appellant's otherwise unsupported theory. South Carolina basic statutory construction law is clear that neither this Court nor Appellant may expand §14-3-330(1). *Worsley Companies, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control*, 351 S.C. 97, 102-03, 567 S.E.2d 907 (S.C. App. 2002); *Sloan v. Sc Bd. of Physical Therapy*, 636 S.E.2d 598, 607, 370 S.C. 452 (S.C. 2006)(words in statute are to be given their plain meaning without subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation); *State v. Appley*, 207 S.C. 284, 289, 35 S.E.2d 835 (S.C. 1945)(court is powerless to alter or add to a statute)

Appellant argues that "This jurisdiction [presumably provided in §14-3-330(1)] also extends to the Court of Appeals", citing S.C. Code 14-8-200(a) for the

proposition that this Court may review the challenged Orders. Appellant has ignored the jurisdictional limitation set forth in this Code provision as well. (Plaintiff's Reply to Motion to Dismiss Appeal, pages 3-4).

SC Code Ann. §14-8-200(a) by its very terms limits appeals solely to orders, judgments, or decrees of the circuit court, family court, a final agency decision, a final decision of an administrative law judge, or a final decision of the Workers Compensation Commission. The appeal here is from Orders issued by a Master-in-Equity in the Court of Common Pleas, which is not identified in §14-8-200(a), and neither counsel nor the court may expand §14-8-200(a) to include decisions of Masters in Equity issued in the Court of Common Pleas. *Worsley Companies, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, SUPRA; Sloan v. Sc Bd. of Physical Therapy, supra; State v. Appley, supra.*

S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1) and §14-8-200(a) are thus inapplicable and provide no support for Appellant's position. This Court may thus properly ignore Appellant's arguments based on both 14-3-330(1) 14-8-200(a).

IV. Whether the Master-in-Equity erred by disallowing Appellee's Request for accrued interest, attorneys' fees, and costs in the November 21, 2022 Order and again disallowing Appellant's request For Accrued Interest in the December 12, 2023 Order?

The answer is no. There is no issue that this judicial foreclosure action was premised upon a contract. Appellant relies upon *U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 378-79, 684 S.E.2d 199 (S.C. App. 2009) for the proposition that interest

cannot be set off by a court (Appellant's Brief, p. 19). *Bell* did not concern the situation here, where "the Bank" claims interest over time as the result of its conduct which inordinately delayed the resolution of this action by almost seven (7) years (as the matter had been scheduled for trial in 2016 but was repeatedly delayed by "the Plaintiff" constantly changing, "the Plaintiff" avoiding discovery obligations, etc.).

In this respect, Respondent asserts that this is a matter of first impression on the issue of whether, under particular facts, interest may be equitably set off due to the conduct of a foreclosing party which inordinately delays the resolution of litigation thus causing an otherwise unnecessary accrual of interest.

Bell held that when there is a contract, the amount of attorneys' fees is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown, citing *Baron Data Systems, Inc. v. Loter*, 297 S.C. 382, 383, 377 S.E.2d 296, 297 (S.C. 1989). Under the totality of the record circumstances, Appellant has failed to demonstrate any abuse of discretion whatsoever. Again, the attorneys' fees claimed by Appellant were incurred, in large part, by Appellant dragging out the litigation through constantly (allegedly) transferring the Note, constantly changing the named Plaintiff, failing to comply with discovery, providing inconsistent testimony from the various "designated representatives", and refusing Respondent's offer to pay the amount determined to be owed.

Appellant claims that the Master-In-Equity abused his discretion in denying Appellant its escrow and corporate advance claims (Appellant's Brief, Page 22). As

a threshold matter, the law in South Carolina is that a Plaintiff must prove its damages by competent evidence, *Witt v. Witt*, 248 S.E.2d 494, 495, 271 S.C. 541 (S.C. 1978).

As the Judgment expressly found that Appellant failed to provide sufficient information, including itemization and reasonableness of its claims for escrow and corporate advances (R., p. 166-171). Appellant “cannot now be heard to complain” as to the Master-In-Equity’s decision not to award such damages, as the failure to supply the Master with sufficient evidence to permit the making of specific findings results in a failure to demonstrate that the result reached by the master, as to the setoff, was erroneous. *Diamond Swimming Pool Co. v. Broome*, 252 S.C. 379, 166 S.E. 2d 308, 312 (S.C. 1969)(affirming master’s findings and overruling objections thereto).

The Master, sitting in equity, has broad equitable powers including the power to relieve a party from a penalty. *Lane v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 147 S.C. 333, 145 S.E. 196, 209 (S.C. 1928). In *Lane*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a court of equity will not lend its aid to a plaintiff seeking to have a penalty enforced and in proper cases will grant relief from a penalty.

The assessment of post-default interest and Appellant’s attorneys’ fees against Respondent would operate as a penalty under the exceptional circumstances of this case. The record history reveals that Appellant’s attorneys’ fees incurred over a course of ten (10) years were solely due to the “Plaintiff”:

- (a) constantly changing its identity; and
- (b) the repeated sale of the loan; and
- (c) the repeated change of position as to who was allegedly owed monies on the loan; and
- (d) delaying compliance with discovery including Court-ordered discovery; and
- (e) changing positions in sworn testimony; and thus
- (f) unnecessarily protracting this litigation which resulted in a waste of Court's judicial resources and Respondent having to wait over ten (10) years to ascertain who in fact owned his loan and who was owed money on the loan. (R. p. 187-8).

The Master-In-Equity, sitting in equity, properly refused to reward Appellant by awarding it interest (R., p. 154-5, No. 68) on the loan after default, especially given Respondent's deposition testimony that he was simply attempting, in this litigation, to ascertain to whom the claimed debt was owed (R. p. 1472, line 9) given (a) the bankruptcy of the original lender; (b) the constant selling and re-selling of his loan, and (c) the amount claimed owed. The "insult to injury" was Appellant's refusal of Respondent's agreement to pay the amount of the Judgment in full, and instead challenging the Judgment. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error.

V. Whether the Master-In-Equity erred in entering the March 28, 2023 Order Which Was Entered on a Motion?

The answer is no. Respondent has addressed this issue in combined sections II and III above, and reincorporates the arguments made therein for purposes of this issue.

VI. Whether the Master-In-Equity Erred in Denying Appellant the Remedy of Foreclosure per the December 12, 2023 Order?

The answer is no. Although Appellant cites *Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 254-55, 715 S.E.2d 348, 356 (S.C. App. 2011) for the proposition that when providing an equity remedy that a court may not ignore statutes, rules, etc., Appellant fails to cite the principle maxim in the case, enunciated by the United States Supreme Court, that “A court of equity abhors foreclosures, and will not lend its aid to enforce them”, citing *Jones v. N.Y. Guar & Indem. Co.*, 101 U.S. 622, 628, 25 L.Ed. 1030 (1979), which maxim has been adopted by the Supreme Court of South Carolina: “Equity does not favor forfeitures or penalties and will relieve against them whenever practicable in the interest of justice.” *Lane v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 147 S.C. 333, 374, 145 S.E. 196, 209 (1928).

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has also held that the court has the power in equity to deny or delay forfeiture when fairness demands, *Lewis v. Premium Ins. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 172, 568 S.E.2d 361, 364 (S.C. 2002). If there was ever a case where fairness demanded that foreclosure be denied, it is here, especially where Appellant refused Respondent’s good-faith offer to pay the entire amount of the Judgment the day after it was entered which would have ended the 10-year litigation.

Appellant has no one to blame but itself for its woes, disappointments, and “disagreement”.

VII. Whether the Master-In-Equity Erred in awarding Respondent a Setoff per the December 12, 2023 Order (which Appellant refers To in its Brief, Section VI, as the (December 12, 2023 Order)?

Appellant’s argument here alleges that there was a “double recovery” by awarding a judgment to Respondent for insurance proceeds. The argument has no merit, and thus the answer to the issue is no.

Insurance proceeds are issued for purposes of repair or replacement caused by damage (here, a fire in the property the subject of the action). Appellant does not assert that the insurance claim was improper, or that there was some issue as to the amount of the insurance proceeds in view of the claim.

The fourth paragraph of paragraph 5 of the Mortgage provides as follows:

“Unless Lender and Borrower otherwise agree in writing, any insurance proceeds, whether or not the underlying insurance was required by Lender, shall be applied to restoration or repair of the Property, if the restoration or repair is economically feasible and Lender’s security is not lessened.” (original emphasis) (R., p. 1518, lines 18-29).

There was never any agreement, in writing or otherwise, that “the Plaintiff” could apply the insurance proceeds to any claimed debt. Appellant made no showing that the repairs were not economically feasible. Appellant’s unilateral application of the insurance proceeds, without prior notice to or consent of Respondent, was thus

(a) without basis in the Mortgage; and (b) in violation of the Mortgage; and (c) used for the benefit of Appellant, not the homeowner.

Appellant claims that Respondent “provided insufficient evidence that he ever fulfilled his preconditions to obtaining the insurance said [sic] proceeds”, yet fails to identify what these alleged “preconditions” were. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 34, Third Paragraph). Appellant’s “argument” is thus unsupported and without foundation, and thus this Court may properly ignore the “argument”.

Appellant makes an “election of remedies” argument, which is absurd. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 35, second paragraph.) Respondent did not “elect” to have the insurance proceeds applied to claimed past due mortgage loan payments; that was a unilateral act of Appellant and its predecessors-in-interest. The decision of the Master-In-Equity was thus proper.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error by the Master-In-Equity which would warrant reversal of the Order appealed from. Appellant ignores the threshold foundation that this matter is one in equity and that the Master-In-Equity possesses powers to arrive at a just result and the power to avoid extreme remedies such as foreclosure and the imposition of what were, in essence, penalties against Respondent for Appellant’s 10-year history of protracting the underlying litigation and refusing to resolve this matter when Respondent offered to pay the full amount of the Judgment the day after it was issued.

Appellant claims nothing but disagreement with the Master-In-Equity's detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law which are more than supported by the record facts cited in the Judgment Order, and admitted that it chose not to address numerous facts which, as a matter of law, results in such facts being the law of the case. Appellant has no one to blame but itself for its complaints, and has failed to demonstrate any level of reversible error.

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